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The Older Bushnell House 1s located on the north side of the Bos-
ton Post Road (Route 1) just east of the Westbrook town line in 01d Say-
brook, Connecticut, on a 19 acre parcel of land. The land fronts on the
Boston Post Road for about 690 feet and runs back to the north about 1,285
feet through Inland Wetlands to the railroad main line. Although this
acreage has been associated with the house for many years, the town map
also sets off a two acre house lot immediately surrounding the house and
it is this two acre plot, only, which in conjunction with the house itself
is the subject of the present nomination.

- The house, which has recently been painted a blue green, 1is separ-
ated from the busy highway by a tall, thick hedge. - Within the’ two acre
house lot there is a large barn in good condition which with several other
out buildings and the rocky, uneven terrain give the overall site a farm-
like appearance.

As originally built in 1678 the house was small, consisting of two
rooms and an attic around a stone chimnrey stack. Early in its history,
possibly soon after 1700, the roof was raised as shown by J. Frederick
Kelly's sketch described below, a lean-to was added, and an ell was built
on to the east. More recently a shed dormer has been constructed across
almost the full width of the back of the original house.

The Front (south) facade has a center doorway with no decorative
embellishments under a hood added long after original construction. On
either side of the door at the first floor level are two windows with six-
over-nine sash. Presumably, these windows replace original casement win-
dows of which there is no trace. At the second story are three six-over-
six windows, one above the door and one over the space between the two
first floor windows on each side. The ell to the right (east) has a six-
over-six at ground level and a small two-over-two above, where the ell's
shed roof joins the main house. (Photo 1). The west facade has a six-over-
nine sash at the first floor and a two-over-two window in the attic gable
above it, with a six-over-six sash at the second floor, off center to the
rear. 1In the ell are a modern door and another two-over-two sash window
comparable to that in the attic gable (Photo 2).

The rear (north) facade shows the most changes. The shed dormer,
bow window and other windows appear to be twentieth century work. On the
other hand, the change in the level of the eaves may well date from the
time when these alterations first were made (Photo 3). The east elevation
shows the ell. Stone steps lead up to the wall to the left of the door,
indicating that the door has been moved. Possibly, this ell initially did
not extend all the way across to the back of the -house (Photo 4).

The great stone chimney is a striking feature of the house. It is
all stone from the cellar floor up through thHe ridge of the roof to its
open work and molded top (Photo 5). There are fireplaces only in the two
first floor front rooms; no fireplace in the lean-to; no fireplaces in the
second floor rooms -- indicating that the house originally consisted of
only two rooms and garret. The chimney provides 'the stairs from the ‘sec-
ond floor to the attic; at its northeast corner its raking edge is shaped
as steps, accessible because on the east side on the second floor the

continued
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One of the dependencies on the grounds is a small
structure referred to as the slave house. This building is one story
high, 14 feet 6 inches deep, and 18 feet 6 inches wide. It has a gable
roof covered with asbestos shingles, clapboard siding and, at one end,
a brick chimney with moolded cap. There are two windows on the west and
east sides of the Mouse, one on the north side, and a door and one
window on the south side. The windows are all 27 inches square, made up
of three rows of four lights. Each pane is 5% inches by 8 inches.
Foundations of the house are built of stone. Hewn beams make up the

interior framing of the structure.
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chimney is not covered over or cased in.

The cellar is under the east room and the ell, while under the west
room is a crawl space only. Moreover, the floor joists for the east room
are smoothly sawn while the floor joists for the ell are round, unfinished
timbers -- the opposite of what might be expected assuming that the ell was
a later addition.

The cellar walls and foundations of the house are fieldstone. The
exterior walls are clapboards thought to be old if not original but there
is no hard evidence on this point. The roof has been covered in the twen-
tieth century with wood shingles; the presence of many small purlins in
the roof framing indicates that originally the house had a thatch roof.

Stairs from the cellar to the west room run in front of the chimney
under the stairs from first to second floor, which are in the usual posi-
tion in the interior porch running up from right to left. The first step
faces the front door and is followed by four winders and then by a strzight
run to the west second floor room. There is no balustrade; the stairs are
closed 1in by vertical boarding.

Vertical boarding, feather edged and beaded, lines the walls of
all the rooms on the ground floor and is of excellent quality.

The west room has the larger of the two fireplaces. It has an oak
lintel 10 feet 9 inches long by 15 inches high by 12 inches deep. This
tremendous timber appears to have been charred over the centuries for it
is now supported by a steel "I" beam unobtrusively fitted behind the front
of the wood. The lower front edge of the lintel is chamferred with lamb's
tongue stops. There are no summer beams in the house. The fireplace is
stone, with an oven in the upper right corner of its back wall.

In the east room the fireplace, with crane in place, 1is smaller and
is built of brick. Its oven is brought out to the plane of the wall to
the right; in effect it is built into the wall of the room to the right of
the fireplace. This fireplace has a stone lintel. The fireplace and
stairway take up one wall of the room, the other three walls being covered
by the feathered, beaded vertical boarding which is used throughout the
first floor rooms.

The two front rooms have flared corner posts as does the lean-to,
indicating that the lean-to was added at an early date. A door between
two rooms in the lean-to has vertical boards and curved H shaped hinges
with chicken heads at the tops. The inside of the front door to the house
has wide horizontal boards. The first floor joists are supported directly
by the foundation walls, the flooring laid on them, and the sills laid on
top of the flooring. Thus, the sills project into the first floor rooms.

While the ceiling joists of the first floor run from side to side,
upstairs they run from front to back. At chair rail height in the upstairs
rooms are the original end girts installed for the orlglnal roof and sup-
ported by posts which are shouldered not gun stock, that is, the wider sec-
tion is shaped to be parallel to the principal section of the post. The

(continued)
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upstairs rooms are sheathed with horizontal boarding, beaded, and 18 to
19 inches wide. 1In the attic the change in the roof framing at the time

the roof was raised is apparent, as shown by the Kelly sketch discussed
below.

The house has been well maintained and is in excellent condition
although new wooden gutters have been added, supported by unsuitable

brackets (Photo 5). The premises are now vacant and the property is for
sale.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Glder Bushnell House is one of the few seventeenth century
houses in Connecticut whose authenticity is confirmed and whose original
fabric clearly has 1ntegr1ty. The 1678 date for this house is confirmed
by J. Frederick Kelly in his Early Domestic Architecture of Connecticut.’
The early date, combined with the original stone chimney, theé original two
rooms, the early evidence of raising the roof, and other features make the
Older Bushnell House one of unusual significance. Its unique combination
of antiquarian elements qualify the house as one of the finest resources
in Connecticut's architectural history.

Kelly devotes two illustrations to the Older Bushnell House. The
first of these (Kelly Figure 3, attached) shows the floor plan of the or-
iginal two room structure. There is only one front window per room, and
the two fireplaces are the same size, indicating that the fenstration has
been changed and the oven in the east room brought forward as moderniza-
tion improvements after the house was built.

The second illustration (Kelly Figure 26, attached) shows the
change in the framing at the time the roof was raised and the lean-to
added, plus details of the sills projecting into the first floor rooms
and the shouldered post supperting the end girt.

With respect to the plan Kelly says, "The older Bushnell house
near Saybrook (1678-1679) and the older Williams house in Wethersfield
(circa 1680), Figures 3 and 4, furnish us with typlcal examples of the per-
iod. It will be seen that in each the chimney occupies its central posi-
tion behlnd the stair porch.... In both the Older Bushnell and the older
Williams houses a flight of steps leads down to the cellar from the hall.
In each it is placed in front of the chimney and beneath the stairs to the
second floor. In the Bushnell house the stairs are of stone, enclosed on
either side by masonry walls. Such an arrangement is always indicative
of very early wErk...In both of these houses the cellar extends beneath
only one room."

With respect to .the sills projecting into the first floor rooms
Kelly explains that in general in houses of this era "The joists of the
first floor spanned the: width of each room, and as a rule their ends were
framed into the sills and the cellar girts. In a few houses, however, of
very early date, the first-floor joists were built into the foundation
walls, and the house sills laid over them.... As a result of such an ar-
rangement,. the sills necessarily projected into the rooms of the first
floor...as3may be seen from the cross section of the older Bushnell
house...."

In addition, Kelly,refers to the shouldered posts in the Bushnell
House as "a rare device," and to the "very heavy" wood lintel spanning
the fireplace of the west room.

(continued)
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Such detailed recognition by Kelly enahnces the clearly visible
architectural and historic significance of the house. The clearly visible
construction characteristics set for in the Description have been damaged
relatively little over the centuries by thoughtless alterations, a fortun-
ate circumstance. Altogether, the Older ©Bushnell House occupies an im-
portant place in Connecticut's limited inventory of authentic seventeenth

century structures.

1. J. Frederick Kelly, A.I.A., Early Domestic Architecture of
Connecticut, New York: Dover Publications, Inc., 1963 (republication of
work first published by Yale University Press, 1924), p. 26.

2. Ibid., p. 8.

3. 7Ibid., p. 25.

4, Ibid., p. 30.

5. TIbid., p. 75.
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« perfect Hustration of this type of plan. From A) Figure 1, it will be scen that the

clan of thes house swas originally that of
chimuey at the western end. [ts probJ.hlv
that this chimney showed on the outside of
the house for ifs entire height, as 1t does 1n
he Norton house in Guilford to-day.
Pl 1oy The stairs to the second floor
were, ot this stage, in the southwest corner,
n tront of the chimney stack. This plan of
sae [ house inits fiest stage may be re-

& mi 5 as typical of the first or one-room

T ha: Norton house in the town of Guil-
1ord {cirea 1690), though essentially a
e nf one-room plan, indicates, by rea-

cot ot lean-to room at the rear, ashightly
%;,f:: developmient. (Tigure 20) Here, asin
the Lo house originally, a tremendous
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ctory; and although the stairs are not in
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A Bouse of one-room plan, however, was but iil suited to the domestic usages of any
excopt the smallest of families, living in the simplest possible manner; and additional space
soon became necessary. It was obtained simply by adding another roem, or unit of construc-

tion, on the opposite side of the chim-
ney, vhich thus becames enclosed. This
change acrvally took place in the Lee
howse about 16G0; so that the house
then fecame of two-roem plan, with a
centnal chimney, in front of which was
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cocond floors (See By Tigure 1.) The
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plete one-recom house, inasmuch as it has
a space for the stack, which the later room
[

The house of twe-room plan—it soon
became established as a type—forms the
second stage in the development of the
Connecticut house plan. The older Bush-
nell house near Saybrook (1678-1679) and
the older Williams house in Wethersfield

TRy Froor fiads (circa 1680), Iigures 3 and 4, furnish us
S Civie Winnany Borsi-oWoinies ey / with typical examples of the period. 1t will
Ficure 4. be seen that in each the chimney occupics its

central position behind the stair porch. Once
arrived at, this arrangement became firmly fixed,and the chimney stack became the center <
pivotal point about which the plan revolved in its development. In both the older Bushnell
and the older Williams houses a flight of steps leads down to the cellar from the hall. In
cach it is placed in front of the chimney and beneath the stairs to the second floor. In the
Bushnell house the steps are of stone, enclosed on either side by masonry walls. Such an
arrangemment is always indicative of very early work. In both of these housces the collar
extends beneath only one room. The second-tloor plan is, of course, identical with that

* of the first or ground floor.

To meet the constantly increas-
ing demand for more room after
the two-room plan had become
firmly established as a type, the
simple expedient of adding a
lean-to across the rear of the
house was resorted to; which ad-
dition resulted in the provision
of three additional rooms on the
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first floor and a large attic on the
second. (Figure 5.) This was
accomplished by continuing the

Qr1GiAAL

Xn.l}'l house l'tﬂ)f n U wk Uf the

ridge down to the ceiling level
of the first floor. (Figure 6.)
The rafters of the new lean to
rocf were usually a separate sct

< Tyercoalr FirRsT TLOGR FLAAS c :
. - from those of the main house
JerAateal (wimary TyertrJ

roof, and were framed at their
Ficure s. upper ends into the original rear

.




The House Frame and Its Construction 25
words, taid flatwise. The corners were generally framed together by means of a mortise-
wod-tenon joint, such as that shown in Figure 24. Another and less comimon form of sill
jointing is that illustrated in Figure 2.

The joists of the first floor spanned the width of each room, and as a rule their ends
were framed into the silis and cellar girts. In a fow houses, however, of very early date,
the first-floor joists were built into the foundation walls, and the house sills luid over
them. Lambert states, in his History of the Colony of New [Haven, that “The ground
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